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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
MIDDLE DISTRICT OF FLORIDA
TAMPA DIVISION
DARRELL ARCHER,
Plaintiff,
V. Case No: 8:1&v-3067-T36AAS
WAL-MART STORES EAST, LPet al,

Defendants.
/

ORDER

This matter comes before the Court ugdefendantsMotion for Summary Judgment
(Doc. 259)(the“Motion”), Plaintiff s response in opposition (Doc. 276), and Defentagpdy in
support othe Motion (Doc. 278)In theMotion, Defendants seek final summary judgment in their
favor on all remaining counts of Plaintif complaintThe Court, having considered tpharties
submissions and being fully advised in the premisék grantthe Motion.

l. STATEMENT OF FACTS?

On or near the date of the incident that is the subject of this la¥Wsaliylart maintaired
a standard operating procedure entittéddPCS: Receipt Checkint(the “policy”). Doc. 2761.2
The policy provideddirection tocertain WalMart employes tasked with checking customer
receiptsid.; Doc. 2093, Deposition oKristinaWood (Wood Depd’) at 15:215:6;Doc. 2092,
Deposition of Charles CarawayQaraway Depd) at 27:327:25, 28:2229:5.Under the policy,

receipt checkers shoultkk to see eeceiptwhen a customer is leaving witfllarge unbagged

1 The Court has determined the facts, which are undisputed unless otherwise netédnlihe parties’ submissions,
including depositions, declarations, and exhibits (Doc-2@oc. 2092; Doc. 2093; Doc. 2094; Doc. 2095; Doc.
209-6; Doc. 2097; Doc.214; Doc. 2151; Doc. Z6-1; Doc. 2762; Doc. 2763), as well as the parties’ Joint Stipulation
of Undisputed Material Facts (“SF”) (Doc. 304).

2 The policy, a copy of which is attached as an exhibit to Plaintiff's response ackl RlRintiff relies onjs dated
April 17, 2015.1d.
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high value items, i.e., all TVs, totes, bikes, &tavhena customer is sedeaving “from the
salesfloor and not the frontefidy whenmanagement or asset protection requests a receipt check.
Doc. 2761. If a customer who is asked for a receipt does not have one, the receipt checker should
“offer to hold the merchandise until the customer can find their réckeiplf. the customer cannot
find their receipt, the receipt checker should relay information provided by the custsouh as
which register lane they checked out-& management to verify the purchalse.

In the event that austomer‘refuses to produce a receipthe receipt checkerrsould
“[p]olitely offer to hold the merchandise tilrthe customer can find their receiptd. at p. 2. If
the customeftrefuses to allow the employee to hold the merchandise, the employee Slatiold
them to leave, and document the eVem a standard form and notify managementsset
protection.ld. The pgovisionallowing a customer who refuses to provide his receipt to leave the
storeis in place for the protection of Wart's employees. Doc. 215 Deposition of Mark
Gammon (“Gammon Depo.”) at 7:21-7:23.

The policy applies on normal days of business, haly not apply on nosstandard days.
Wood Depo. at 15:385:25 Gammon Depo. at 15:175:21. November 26, 2015 was
ThanksgivingOn that evening Wal-Mart Stores East, LP (Val-Mart’ or the“stor€) located at
7450 Cypress Gardens BoulevaWdinter Haven, Floridavas having a major sales eve®F at |

3a-3b.Becausethe sales evenwould attract a“magnitude of peoplethat eveningWal-Mart

3 In response to Plaintiff's questioning at a June 6, 2018 deposition, Mark GamnidatMart manager, further
described the purpose of the provision.

Q. Do you know why the policy says that yeif the customer refuses to @l you to hold
the merchandise, allow them to leave? Do you know why?

A. Again, the protection of our associates.

Q. What do you mean byI'm sorry. You said that before. | don't know what you mean by
protect—

A. To ensure that there’s not going to be agitgl altercation or something between our

associates and a customer. We want to protect our associates.
Gammon Depo. at 22:223:5.



decidedo implementdifferentprocedures, requiringeceipt checking for at lelall merchandise
that was not bagge€dWood Depo. at 58:38:9 Caraway Depo. at 23:1233:19 Gammon Depo.
at 15:1715:2% Phillips Depo. at 18:1228:12. In addition, WalMart decided to add police
presence to the store that day. Gammon Depo. at 15:23-15:24.

At least three police officers from the City of Winter Haven (t68&y”) were present at
Wal-Mart for the sales event pursuant to a special detail contract betweevida@nd the City.
SFat § 3c. The three officers, all dressed in full uniform, were Sergeant KaolIsl{' Sergeant
Nichols”), Sergeant Dan Gaskirf Sergeant Gaskin, and Officer Brad Webster* Qfficer
Webstet) (collectively, the* Officers’).® SFat 1 3e3d. The Officers were paid by Wallart for
their time, but were not acting under the supervision ofMéatt. Phillips Depo. at 10:40:10;
Wood Depo.at 43:2544:1, 57:457:8 Doc. 2096, Deposition of Sergeant GaskithGaskin
Depo.”) at 62:24-63:2.See alsSF at T 3e (agreeing the Officers were acting in the course and
scope of their employment with the City).

Plaintiff Darrell Archer {Archer’) went to the store that evenind. at{ 3a. The store was
very busy with holiday shoppelsd. at | 3b.Using the selcheckout line, Archer purchasethage
screen television at the store for a total price of $159dt&at 1 3a.A Wal-Mart employee,
Diamond HernandeZ'flernandez) helped Artier complete his transaction and handed him his
receipt.Doc. 2094, Deposition of Diamond HernandéHgernandez Depd). at 9:219:24.Archer

placed his receipt in his pocket and proceeded to exit the Stea¢.§ 3g.Archer walked toward

4 Although one WalMart employee testified receipts for all-bagged merchandise should be checked, Wood Depo.
at 58:358.9, two other WalMart employees testified that all receipts were to be che@mtl.2095, Deposition of
John Phillips (“Phillips Depo.”) at 18:108:12; Caraway Depo. at 23:P3:19. Whethereceipts were to behecked

for all items orfor only nonrbagged items is not material to this caas it is undisputed that Plaintiff’s television was
not bagged.

5 On October 10, 2019, the Officers filed a notice of settlement. Doc. 279.t®tieat, the Winter Haven Police
Department, the City, and Walmart Imeere dropped from this action. Doc. 132; Doc. 183. The only claims remaining
in this action are those against Wart andfour of its employees.

3



the exit, pushing the shopping cart that held the television. Doc. 214, Incident Wiided(") at
00:00-00:08.

As Archer began his exithatherWal-Mart employee, Kanara HarrisHarris’), asked
Archer to show his receipt for the purchase of the televiSérat § 31. Harris had routinely
attempted to ask all customers for recegm they exited the store that evenidg.

Archer refused to show Harris his receigt.at  3i. As Archer pushed the shopping cart
toward the exitHarris® followed, stepping to the right of Archer, then stepping in front of the
shopping cart anglacing his hands on the shopping cart. Video at 0022 see alsdoc. 209
1,” Deposition of DarrelArcher ( Archer Depd) at 77:1978:14.Harris continued to block the
shopping cart, but did not physically block Archer. Archer Depo. at 16161519; Video at
00:11-00:33. Archer continued to attempt to leave the store with the shopping carewisdtel
attempting to maneuver around Harris. Video at 0@@28. Acher testified he believed Harris
told him he could not leave without showing his receipt. Archer Depo. at 182:17-183:5.

Harris gesturegdapparently waving to someoremd a few secorsdater, Officer Webster
arrived at the scen¥ideoat 00:2100:4Q Archer Depo. at 120:2120:25 184:24185:4.Officer
Websterstepped to the right of Archer and placed his hands on the right side of the shopping cart

and then at the front of the shoppiragtc Videoat 00:33-00:49.

8The parties do not explicitly agree in the Joint Stipulation of Undisputed Mdtadts that Harris todthese actions;
however the undisputed facts evident in the summary judgmesratrdshow this waslarris. The parties agree Harris
asked Archer to show his receipt and upon Officer Webster's arrival, Heftresd resumed his duties. SF at {9 3h,
3l. TheVideo and Archer’s deposition testimony indicate that the same person also fook adth the shopping
cart and gestured fassistanceSeeVideo at 00:0100:46 (showing the same person encountering Archer near the
exit, stepping to the right and in front of the shopping cart, and gesturing for someone); Aapbealr7:198:14
(Archer testimony stating that “a guy” asked Archer for his receipt and, whéeefused, “jumped in front of [the
shopping] cart and blocked it” and “hollered for sétgtiy.

" Excerpts of Archer's deposition testimony and excerpts of other deposition testmavhich the parties rely are
filed with Archer’s response in opposition to Defendants’ Motieedoc. 276. However, because the full content of
those transcrig were filed earlier at docs. 20%hrough 2097 and at doc. 21%, the Court cites to those.
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WhenOfficer Webster arrivedHarriswalked awayreturring to his previous dutiesd. at
00:36-01:32SFat 1 3l. Officer Webster requested ArclsereceiptSFat  3j. Archer refused to
show Officer Webster his receigt. at § 3k Archer Depo. at 79:¥9:11. Officer Webster
continued to keep a hand on the shopping cart. Archer Depo. at 4211 213; Video at 00:49
01:11.

A male dressed in ashirt, WatMart employeeCharles Caraway' Caraway), was next
to arrive at the scengist after Officer WebsterVideo at 00:450:50; Archer Depo. at 121:46
121:20. Less than one minute later, another-Wait employee, a femaleamedKristina Wood
(“Wood”), arrived. Vdeo at 01:391:45; Archer Depo. at 121:2®2:4. A few seconds later,
Sergeant Nichols arrived. Video at 01:@¥:54;Archer Depo. at 122:523:7, 185:5185:7 Doc.
276-3 at p. 2 About one minute later, Sergeant Gaskin arrived. Video at D218Ber Dep. at
185:8-185:1C

Archer testified thatluring this timepne of the sergeants told him he was not allowed to
leave.Archer Depo. at 55:55:9 55:1755:24.Archeralso testifieche could not leave because he
“was being blocked.’Archer Depoat 103:22-103:23. However, Sergeant Gaskin testified no one

ever told Archer he was not free to leave. Gaskin Depo. at 90:24-91:1.

8 Concerning the additional arrivals on scene, the parties do not explicitly agheeliint Stipulation of Undisputed
Material Facts that Caraway was the male dressed-shiattSeeSF. Howeverthe undisputed facts evident in the
summary judgmentecord show the male dressed inshirt was Caraway. Wood testified that when she arrived at
the scenepne of the @ficersand Caraway were already there. Wdepo. at 35:186:4. At the time Wood arrived,
only Officer Webster and the male in thehirt were there with Archer. Video at 01:8%:45. Sergeant Nichols’
police report states that when he arrived on scene, Archer was standing with “arnoéile management team,
Of[ficer] Webster and Charles Caraway (Member of the asset protection team.)21B& at p. 2. At this point,
other than Archer, Officer Webster, and Sergeant Nichols, only Wood and the maleshithavere present. Video

at 00:451:54. Also, Caraway and Wood each testified that Caraway was a member-kfawalasset protection
team and that Wood was a manager. Caraway Depo. at 9:12, 16:10, 52:7; Wood Dept4ab0:1650:18, 24:15
25:2. Finally, Carraway testified about thetions he took that evening, which are consistent with the actions of the
male wearing the-shirt in the VideoSeeCaraway Depo. at 26:76:11, 31:132:2, 53:2354:20, 60:1160:19.
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SergeantNichols’ police reportdescribing the inciderrovides Archer stated “he had a
right to the property and wished talee with it” andCaraway"advised that [Archer] would not
be able to exit the store without a receipt for the televisidac. 2763 at p. 2Later in the report,
SergeanNicholsalsowrote that Archefwas advised that he could not leave with the merdisa
without a receipt. Id.

Caraway testified Archer was tdldver and over again that [he] w[as] free td’ goaraway
Depo.at R:13-32:14 Caraways recollection was that Archer was free to leave, but that he could
not take the television unless he provided his redeipat 32:1832:20, 3613-36:16 37:1637:18
(testifying that Archef'was free to leave at all tinfebut could not take the television unless he
“proved that [he] purchased)itCaraway recalled telling the Officers that Archer could not leave
with the merchandise without proof of purchdseat 62:14-62:17.

Wood also recalled that Archer was free to leave at any éintethat the Officers told him
this. Wood Depo. at 40:1240:24-4025, 42:1242:18 49:449:10; 49:28650:12, 55:20, 56:16
56:20, 57:13%7:14.Wood testified shéwas not stopping [Archer] from leaving, even with the
television” 1d. at 56:21-56:24.

Throughout, Archer continued to refuse to provide his recAihea raised his voice
pointeda finger at the Officers and the WHdlart employeesand was argumentativieoc. 2097,
Deposition of Sergeant NicholsNichols Depd’) at 87:1888:1, 90:8 According to Archeis
testimony, one of the two sergeants, possibly Sergeant NitblolsArcher at some point that he

could arrest Archer for thefircher Depo. at 54:5-54:21..

9 However, both Caraway and Wood testified they never heard any Offibers threaten to arrest Archer. Caraway
Depo. at 25:725:19, 30:130:7, 54:2154:23; Wood Depo. at 49:149:13. Sergeant Gaskin testified he never heard
Sergeant Nichols threaten to “lock up” Archer. Gaskin Depo. at #4116, 56:1256:14. Sergeantihols testified

he never told Archer he would be “lock[ed] up.” Nichols Depo. at-42:8. Sergeant Nichols stated that if he had
threatened to arrest Archer at any point, it would have been in combination with thef isegpass, not theft. Nichols
Depo. 56:1457:2.



After approximately three minutes of standing and talking with the Officers and/Maral
employeesArcher pushed his shopping cart forwarén attempto leave with his televisiorsF
at 1 3m Archer Depo. at 123:823:13; Video at 03:183:21. Sergeant Gaskin removed the
television from Archés shopping cart and set it on the floBF at § 3n Video at 03:2103:39
Archer Depo. at 187:19-188%7.

Caraway requested that Archer be trespassed from the prapiedty 3¢ Doc. 2763 at
p. 2. Sergeant Nichols told Archére would have to leave or he would be arrested for trespass.
Archer Depo. at 90291:6 Nichols Depo. at 43:183:24.Archer asked Nichols whether he was
free to leave, and Nichols advised he was. Doc-2@6p. 3. Archer asked whether he could leave
with the television; Nichol$advised that he could not unless he was able to provide the receipt.
Id.

Archertestified itwaspossible he was told he could leave with the television if he showed
his receiptArcher Depoat 93:1293:14. Nonetheless, Arch&preferred to assert [his] right not
to have to show that receiptd. at 93:15-93:18.

Archer left the premisesithout the televisionthinking that he would be arrested if he did
not leaveSFat  3p Video at 05:2505:35.0fficer Webster and Sergeant Nichols followed Archer
out into the parking lot as he exited the stdlieholsDepo. at 44:2-44:16 Video at05:25-05:35.

Wal-Mart's security camereecorded images of the incidebeginning at approximately
6:57 p.m. when Archer encountered Harris and continuing through to when Archer left the store

at approximately 7:02 p.m. Video at 00:08:37. During thosefive to six minutes, Archer was

10 Archer believes he heard one of the Whlrt employees, possibly Caraway, tell the Officers to remove the
television. Archer Depo. at 179:4179:19. This is disputed. Caraway testified that he did not tell anyone to take the
television ait of the shopping cart and did not know of any \AMalrt employee who instructed the Officers to take
the television. Caraway Depo. at 3B71:13, 51:1151:13. Wood also testified that she did not instruct the Officers to
take the television and did notda of any WalMart employee who did. Wood Depo. at 66B:12.SergeanGaskin
testified he took the television out of the shopping cart in an effate¢scalate what had become an aggressive
situation. Gaskin Depo. at 5555:15.



never moved from the scene of the incident, taken to another room, or argésted( 363r;
Archer Depo. at 53:18-54:4; Video at 00:00-05:37.

After Archer left the store, Caraway took the television and stored it in $be@®tection
office. SFat { 3s; see alsoVideo at 7:368:00. Later that evening, Wallart's asset protection
team verified that Archer had in fact purchased the televiSibat 3t Hernandez Depo. 10:3
10:9.

Days later, Archer went to the polidepartment and met with an Officer Hoverkamp to
discuss the incident. Archer Depo. at 10410%:12. Officer Hoverkamp later called Archer and
informed him that he was allowed to return to the store to pick up his television andchéhabif
longer wantedhe television, he would be able to get a refun@vat-Mart's customer service
desk.ld. at 105:18106:4. Archer does not recall Officer Hoverkamp telling him that, but admits
that his concern at that point was not about getting the television or his moneidbatk06:5
111:4. Archer does not believe leger attempted to call WMlart to ask about getting his
television backld. at 106:18-106:26*

. LEGAL STANDARD

Summary judgment is appropriate when the pleadings, depositions, answers to
interrogatories, and admissions on file, together with the affidavits, show there isusegesue
as to any material fact and that the moving party is entitled to judgmentatten of law. Fed. R.
Civ. P. 56(c);Celotex Corp. v. Catretd77 U.S. 317, 322 (1986). The moving party bears the
initial burden of stating the basis for its motion and identifying those portions of thel rec
demonstrating the absence of genuine s&ianaterial factCelotex 477 U.S. at 323Hickson

Corp. v. N. Crossarm CA357 F.3d 1256, 12560 (11th Cir. 2004). That burden can be discharged

11 Additional testimony provideg\rcher was informed the day after the incident, November 27, 2015, that he could
pick up the television. Phillips Depo. at 3B2:7.



if the moving party can show the court that theréas absence of evidence to support the
nonmoving pay’s casé. Celotex 477 U.S. at 325.

When the moving party has discharged its burden, the nonmoving party must then
designate specific facts showing that there is a genuine issue of material. f@c824. Issues of
fact are“genuine”only if a reasonable jury, considering the evidence present, could find for the
nonmoving party, and a fact ismaterial if it may affect the outcome of the suit under governing
law. Anderson v. Liberty Lobby, Inc177 U.S. 242, 2489 (1986). In determining whether a
genuine issue of material fact exists, the court must consider all the evidencelightheaost
favorable to the nonmoving part¢elotex 477 U.S. at 323. However, a party cannot defeat
summary judgment by relying upon conclusory allegati®es Hill v.Oil Dri Corp. of Ga, 198
Fed.Appx. 852, 858 (11th Cir. 2006).

[I. DISCUSSION

A. Count | — False Imprisonment as to Wal-Mart, Wood, Caraway, Harris

Defendant¥ argue they are entitled to judgment as a matter of law on Aschalse
imprisonment clainfor three reasons. First, DefendaatsitendArcher cannot establish he was
detainedoy any WalMart employeeSecondDefendants argue, even if Archayuld estalish he
was detainedby a WatMart employee Defendants are immune under Florglahopkeeper
immunity statuteThird, Defendantsontendany detention of Archer was lawful becadseher
consentedThe Court reviews each of Defendarssyumentsand Arcler s responses thereto,
turn.

“False imprisonment is the unlawful restrashts person against his will, the gist of which

action isthe unlawful detention of the plaintiff and deprivatiorhef liberty” Harder v. Edwards

12 Throughout this Order, the Court refers to the remaining deferd@mp, Caraway, HarrigVal-Mart, and
Wood—collectivelyas “Defendants.” That term does not include defendants no longer a part ofitinis act
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174 So. 3d 524, 530-la. 4th DCA 2015) (quotinglohnson v. Weined9 So.2d 699, 700 Fla.
1944)). “Unlawful” means that the confinement wasreasonable and unwarranted under the
circumstances.Harris v. Lewis State Bank36 So. 2d 338, 34Fla. 1st DCA 1983)emphasis
deleted, citation omittedYhus, thefollowing elements are required to show false imprisonment:
1) the“detention and deprivation of liberty of a person 2) againstpions will 3) without
legal authority or color of authority and 4) which is unreasonable and unwarranted under the
circumstance$ Harder, 174 So. 3d at 53@itation omitted)

1. Whether Archer was Detained

a. Detention in general

The summary judgment record in this case provides little support for the premise that
Archer was detained.ess than six minutedapsed between the time Archer encountered Harris
and left the store. During those few minutes, Archer was not tonshsdot asked to accompany
the WalMart employes or Offices to another locationand was not arrested. &e facts alone
distinguish this case from the majorityrefailrelatedfalse imprisonment claims brought pursuant
to Florida law.See, e.gMorris v. Albertsons, Inc, 705 F.2d 406, 40@L.1thCir. 1983) plaintiff
accused of shoplifting agreed to accompany store personnel to store bfficigr, 174 So. 3d at
529 (plaintiff arrested and held almost 24 houksyis v. Costco Wholesale Corgl9 So. 2d
1226, 1227 (Fla. 4th DCA998)(plaintiff arrested and held for several houGgnto v. J.B. Ilvey
& Co., 595 So. 2d 1025, 1027 (Flast DCA 1992) (plaintiffs accused of shoplifting agreed to
accompany store personnel to store office, where they were held for about tw) Hoad v.
Zayre Cap., 529 So. 2d 1197, 1198 (Fla. 5th D@B88)(plaintiff accused of shoplifting taken to
store security office)Hernandez v. KMart Corp, 497 So. 2d 1259, 1259 (Fla. 3d DQA86)

(plaintiff accused of shoplifting agreed to accompany store security guard to a room icktbé ba
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the store where she was interrogated, threatened with police action, aiseatciped)DeMarie
v. Jefferson Stores, Inel42 So. 2d 1014, 1015 (Fla. BELA 1983) (plaintiff questioned in room
in the back of the store and subsequently arrestéedissman v. #art Corp, 396 So. 2d 1164,
1166 (Fla. 3d DCAL981)(plaintiff invited to storés security office where he was held for at least
15 to 20minutes,but less tharB0 minutes, and charged by police with shoplifting@od Fair
Stores, Inc. v. Kincaid335 So. 2d 560, 561 (Flad DCA 1976) plaintiff accused of shoplifting
was asked to step into mandgeoffice, where she was held for about 30 minutetd police
arrived and theheldanother 10 to 15 minutes until she was put in a police car and taken to the
police station)Anderson v. WaMart Stores, InG.No. 1261047CIV, 2013 WL 773473, atZ
(S.D. Fla. Feb. 28, 2013plaintiff arrested afterlse failed to cooperate with policéficer who
had approachedher after being alerted by store personnel that plaintiff had refused to show her
receipt);Mahani v. WalMart Stores, InG.No. 0880654CIV, 2009 WL 1834224, at3(S.D. Fla.
June 25, 2009plaintiff was escorted to the asset protection office by store persoGiegriello
v. Kash N Karry Food Stores, IncNo. 807-CV-592-T30TGW, 2008 WL 4426710, at *2 (M.D.
Fla. Sept. 26, 2008) (plaintiff arrested for retail theft after being observedreypsrsonnel).
Archerdoes notlirect the Court to a singtasewith facts similar to thosendisputedhere,
where a plaintiff questioned for a matter of minutes and not moved from the soerarrested
brought a successfalaim for false imprisonmenfA case cited by Defendants, however, suggest
suchcircumstance, where a customer is stopped for a few minutes and given the tplesve
without propertymay not give rise tadetenton. SeeMoore v. Federated Retail Holdings, Inc.
No. 607-CV-1557-0ORL-31GJK, 2009 WL 129628, at *4 (M.D. Fla. Jan. 20, 2488jting it was
“far from cleat whether plaintiff was ever detaineédwhere he was stopped near a store exit for

about 20 minute and able to leave the store withbig property; see also Andersp2013 WL
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773473, at *6 (law enforcement did not seek to detain customer upon first approdtmlyput
sought to gether] to provide a receipt for her purchasges”

Nonethelessyiewing all evidence in a light most favorable to Archer, genissees of
materialfact exist with respect to whether Archer was free to |dastorevithout the television
before being issuedteespass warning. Although the \AMkart employees and Officers testified
Archer was free to leave at any point withthe televisionGaskin Depo. at 90:24@1:1; Caraway
Depo. at 32:1382:14, 32:1832:20, 36:1336:16; Wood Depo. at 40:12, 40:20:25, 4212-42:18,
49:4-49:10, 49:2%0:12, 55:20, 56:166:20, 57:13567:14, Archer testified to other
circumstances, includinipatat least on®f the Officers threatened him with arrest atmld him
he was not free to go. Archer Depo. at 53:14-53:18, 55:3-58:24.

Becauseagenuine issues of materi@ct exist as to the first element of Arctgeclaim for
false imprisonmentetentionthe Court assumes for purposes of further analysis that Archer was
not free to leave the stotdowever, the Court’s analysis as to the first element does not end there.
Assuming Archer was not free to leave, the Coouist addresswhetherthere is a dispute of
material fact as tovhich, if any* Wal-Mart employealetained Archer.

b. Detention by any \&l-Mart employees
A privateindividual cannot be held liable for false imprisonment pursuant to Florida law

unless that persoripersonally and actively participated therein, directly or by indirect

13 In the Motion, Defendantdispute Archer’s expert testimonywhere Archer'sexpert apparently testifies and
concludes that Archer was detained. However, Archer’s response does notatigexgert findings. Because Archer
does not utilize expert testimony in support of his position, the Court needisr@ssDefendants’ anticipatory
arguments

1 As Defendants point out, at times throughout ¢aise, Archer has collectively referred to Defendants, the Officers,
and others as “theySee, e.gArcher Depo. at 57:87:11, 78:1478:24, 81:1631:20, 86:2336:25. But evidence that
one of the Officers, or that all three Officers, detained Archehowitmore, is insufficient to implicate any of the
Defendants. And evidence that one individual \AMalrt employee detained Archer, without more, is insufficient to
implicateany other individual WaMart employeeAccordingly, the Court turns toward an §rsis of each WaMart
employee’s specific actions to determine whether any individuaiMéad employee had anything to do with the
assumed detention.

12



procurement."Harder, 174 So. 3dat 530 (QuotingJohnson 19 So. 2dat 701) A citizen that
provides information to law enforcement, without more, doescootmit the tort of false
imprisonmentld. (citing Pokorny v. First Fed. Sav. & Loan Asf Largq 382 So. 2d 678, 682
(Fla. 1980). That remains true evavhere an individual “makes an honest, good faith mistake in
reporting an incident.Id.

To be liable in tort for false imprisonment, an individual must eitlaetually detaih
another or'instigaté such detentiond. To “instigaté a detention means to taken active role
in encouraging or procuringhe same by

[w]ords or acts which direct, request, invite or encourage the false imprisbnme

itself. In the case of an arrest, it is the equivalent, in words or conduQffadet,

arrest that mafllt is not enough for instigation that the actor has given information

to the police about the commission of a crime, or has accused the other of

committing it, so long as he leaves to the police the decision as to what shall be

done about any arrest, without persuading or influencing them.
Id. (quoting Restatement (Second) of Torts, section 45A, Comment c).

In Lozada v. Hobby Lobby Stores, lremanager of the store, Michael Licaalled law
enforcement to report that an employdajmiff IsmaelLozada, was planning a mass shooting.
702 Fed. Appx. 904, 906 (11th Cir. 2017). Store employees had told Licari about lsozadant
behavior, including comments abdghooting up the storeld. at 907. Licari obtained written
statementérom the employees and forwarded them to Hobby Lobbgrporate officed. Licari
was instructed to contalgw enforcemenénd to terminate plaintiff's employmendl.

Licari wrote out a statement for law enforcement, summarizing what he hatidieat
plaintiff from the other employeekl. One deputy stated he would speak to plaintifigeessis

mental stateld. at 908.Plaintiff was interviewed by law enforcement, civilly committed, and

detained for about 36 houtsd.
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Plaintiff claimed damages against Hobby Lobby for false arigsat 907.The district
court granted summary judgment in favor of Hobby Lobbplamtiff’s false imprisonment claim,
holding Hobby Lobby did not instigatglaintiff’s arrest.ld. The Elevath Circuit affirmed,
rejecting plaintiffs argument thaobby Lobby’s involvement daw enforcement was a directive
to have plaintiff arrestedd. at 91617.The Eleventh Circuit also rejected plainsfargument that
Hobby Lobby was liable because its employees went beyond mere reporteskiby law
enforcementto inform plaintiff that he was fired from his job at Hobby Lobbg. While
acknowledgingHobby Lobby may have gone beyond mere reporting in this instdrecEleventh
Circuit heldsuch adbns “did not amount to instigation because it was not equivalent to asking
[law enforcement] to arrest [plaintiff]ld.

Archer contends, generallythat Defendants are responsible for the Officers’ behavior
because WaMart employees‘accepted the conduof the police officers in part by their
acquiescence to the officersonduct toward the plaintiff.Doc. 276 at p. 3. First, the evidence
before the Court does not indicate that any -Watt employee “acquiesced” to the Officers’
conduct. Rather, theecord evidence showseé Officers and the WaMart employees acted in
separate scopes: the Officated in the scope of their employment as Offiegtis the City, and
not pursuant to any direction from Wellart. Phillips Depo. at 10:60:10; Wood Depo. at 43:25
44:1, 57:4-57:8; Gaskin Depo. at 62:24-63:2; SF at  3e.

SecondArcher provides no support ftiie premise that a private citizen can be liable for
false imprisonment bYyacquiescencé To the contrary, as just discussed, saghssertion is not
supported by law. To be liable in tort for false imprisonment, a private individual musathac
detan a person or must instigate such detention through “an active iHaeder, 174 So. 3dat

530.A general statement that a person “acquiesced” to official conduct does not suffice
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i. Wood

The summary judgment record offers no support for the prethateWood actually
detained ArcherWood arrived on scene after Officer Webster, at which #mher s assumed
detention was, according to hialready‘well taken care of by Winter Haven PDArcher Depo.
at 163:2163:7.See alsd’hillips Depo. at 23:1:24:16 (testifying that WaMart turned the matter
over to the Officers upon their arrival); Gammon Depo. at 331t%9 32:1832:21 (testifying
that the Officers took over the situation); Wood Depo. at 43:25-44:1, 57:qshatidg that Wal
Mart management does not give direction to police).

Indeed, Archer agreed th#food never stated hevas not free to leavércher Depo. at
163:2-163:7The only thing Archer remembers from his conversation with Wood is that she asked
him for his receiptld. at121:24-122:4, 162:12-163:22dAitional evidence is not contrafjyood
testified that sheasked Archer for his receipt bwas not stopping Archer from leaving. Wood
Depo. at 40:12, 40:240:25, 42:1242:18, 44:844:19, 49:449:10; 49:2550:12, 55:20, 56:16
56:24, 57:1367:14. Woods not seen oithe Videotouching Archer nor blocking his path to the
exit. Video at 1:40-5:34.

The summary judgment record also offers no support for the premis¥dbdtinstigated
Archer’sdetentiorby taking an active role in encouraging or procuadgtention by the Officers.
Indeed, Wood testified that she was not at liberty to give the Officers any dirdatioig the
incident Wood Depo. at 43:284:1. Most critically, there is no evidence concerning what, if
anything, Wood said to the Officers that eveniBgeWood Depo. at 48:88:10, 52:132:15;
Archer Depoat 173:7173:15, 175:18.75:24 Gaskin Depoat 39:1040:8 Nichols Depo. at 30:9

30:11, 41:9-41:13, 45:4-45:6, 79:19-79:25, 81:7-81:9; Doc. 276-3.
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ii. Caraway

The summary judgment record also offers no support for the premiszeattaatay actually
detained Archer. Carawagyarrival,like Wood’s was preceded by the arrival of Officer Webster.
Video at 00:29-00:47SeealsoPhillips Depo. at 23:19-24:16 (testifying that Wal-Mart turned the
matter over to the Officers upon their arrival); Gammon Depo. at S11H) 32:1832:21
(testifying that the Officers took over the situatio@araway Depo. at 25:236:6 (statinghat the
Officers were dealing with the matter).

Indeed, Archer testified he did not believe Caraway &sdrArcher he was not free to
leave.Archer Depo. at 158:458:19. Alditional evidence is not contrary: Caraway testitieak
he toldArcherhewasfree to go, albeit without the televisiddeeCaraway Depo. é€23:15-23:25
28:4-28:6. Caraway is not seen on th&o touching ArcheNideo at00:36-%:35. When Archer
attempted to push the shopping cart forward to leave with the television, Caraway ddwetsi
on the carand pointed at Archeld. at 03:20-03:29 At that moment, Archer did not try to leave
without the televisionld. at 3:203:41. Later, when Archer went to leave without the television,
Caraway did not get in the wayl. at 05:26-05:39.

The summary judgment record also offers no support for the prehmaseCaraway
instigateda detention by taking an active role in encouraging or procuaidgtention by the
Officers. Carawayestified he told the Officers that Archesuid nottake thetelevisionwithout
proof of purchase. Caraway Depo3at18-32:20, 36:13-36:16, 37:16-37:18, 626417. There
is no record evidence, however, that Caraway told the Officers the equivalgatds or conduct,

that they should not allo Archer to leavewithout the merchandis€. SeeCaraway Depo. at

15 Caraway agrees he told the Officers to trespass Archer whabpat 7:00 p m.Archer attempted toysh the
shopping cart forward in an effort to leave with the television. Caraway Dep@®-31:2 But whether Caraway
instructed the Officers to trespass Archer is not at issue with respectierArfalse imprisonment claim. The only

16



31:2032:2, 32:1132:14, 37:1637:18; Archer Depo. at 157:2A58:19; 172:17173:6; Nichols
Depo. at 45:7-45:14.
iii. Harris

The summary judgment record also providesevidence that Harris ingtited Archés
detentionby the Officers There is simply no evidence in the record about what Haatigo any
Officer. SeeArcher Depo. atl60:10462:11, 183:4183:5 Gaskin Depo. aB86:1-86:2 Nichols
Depo. at80:6-80:9.The evidence shows that Harris gestured by waving to someone, possibly
Officer Webster. But waving to attrattte attentionof law enforcemenis not the equivalent of
telling law enforcement to detasomeone.

Viewing the evidenceén a light most favorde to Archerand giving Archer the great
benefit of the doubthowever, thee is a possibledispute of material fact as to whether Harris
actuallydetained ArcherTo be suremuch of the evidence does not support Archer’s claim for
false imprisonment agastHarris. Of the three WaMart employeesat the sceneHarris spent the
leastamount oftime with Archer—less tharbO seconds, only 35 of those which were not in the
presence of Officer Websterideo at 00:0800:50.When Archer refused Hartisequesto see a
receiptandcontinuedpushing the shopping cart, Harris followed, stepping to the right of Archer,
then stepping in front of the shopping cart and placing his hands on the shopping cart. Video at
00:11-00:22; Archer Depo. at 77:19-78:14. Althotlitdrris blockedhe shopping cart, he did not
physically block Archer. Archer Depo. at 161:15-161:19; Video at 00:11-00:33.

However, Acher testifiel he was not sure but he believed Harris told him he could not
leave without showing his receipt. Archer Depo.180:21-162:11, 182:17-183:Rrchers

relevant testimony about Harris is as follows.

question is whether Caraway took an active role in encouraging or procuringateténtiher does not attempt to
suggest that a trespass warning is the same as a detention.
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A. Well, if we watch that video, you can see that | had some conversation with
the first person who stopped me asking for the receipt.

Q. Okay. And that person, do you know who that person is?

A. | do not.

Q. Do you know if that person was if that person was an employee of
Walmart?

A. | believe that person to have been a Walmart employee.

Q. Okay. And what conversations did you have with that person?

A. He would be the one who initially asked meroy receipt.

Q. Okay. Other than asking you for a receipt,ydo recall anything else that
he said to you?

A. | don't.

Q. Did you ever- do you ever recall him saying that you could not leave?
A. | recall him blocking my cart to prevent niwm leaving and calling for
help.

Q. He blocked the cart. Did he ever block you physically?

A. No.

Q. Okay. And do you ever recall thadividual calling you a thief or accusing

you of theft?

A. No.

Q. Okay. Other than- | know | asked this aouple of minutes ago, but | just
want to make surérh clear. Other than that individual asking you for ymaeipt,

do you recall him saying anything else to you?

Well, I can see myself talking with him in the video.

Okay.

So | was talking to him for some reason. He must have said something to

®

Okay.

But | don’t know what.

As you sit here today, you don’t know what that cosagon was?
| do not recall.

>0>03P0OP

Q. Just a couple of followap questions.- Did you hear any of the Walmart
employees telling the police that you couldfeave unless you showed your
receipt?

A. | don't recall. Geez, | wish | could. | ddnecall hearing them say that.

Q. Did the Walmart employees tell you, you need to show your receipt or you
carit leave?

A. | think -- | carit say with certainty, but | believe that that fellow that stopped

me that you- the first guy that stopped me, the checker of the receipts, you saw
there was some conversation between us. | believe he did say that.

Q. “You carit leave without showing the receipt”?

A. Yes.
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Archer Depo. at 160:21-162:11, 182:17-183:5.
It is unclear whethethe possiblestatemenby Harris that Archer could not leave without

showing his receipt meant thatcher could not leave at all ¢hat hecould not leave with the
television Archers testimony is the only record evidence about what Harris said to Archer that
evening.

It is dubious whether Arches testimony that Harrisiayhave said Archer could not leave
without a receipt can create a dispute of material fact concerning detenigi of the fact that
Harris was alone with Archer for only 35 secanHsirris did not block Archer but only the
shopping cart, and Archer is unsure of what Harris said. Howessumangthere is a genuine
issue of material fact a® whether Harris detained Archeéhe Court assumes for purposes of
further analysis that Harrig fact detained Archerand continues with its assessment of the
evidence in view of the elements Archer must ultimately prove.

2. Whether Harris had Probable Cause to Detaintfec

The next question in the false imprisonment analysis is whether Hessismed detention
of Archer was unlawfulUnder Florida law, a store employsedetention of a person is not
unlawful where (1) there is probable cause to believe the personrastted a retail theft and
the property can be recovered by taking the offender into custody, (2) the person is held in a
reasonable manner and for a reasonable length of time, and (3) law enforceméed i® ¢hk
scene immediately after the persontaken into custody. Fla. Stat. § 812.015(3)&8e also
Weissman396 So. 2&t 1166 The issue of probable caue a question of law for the court so
long as the material facts are undisputddoiris, 705 F.2d at 409. Theqbable cause necessary
to support detention is less than probable cause needed to support later prosecutionisthrat a pe

might later be found innocent ah alleged thefs not determinativdd. The question is whether

19



probable cause existed at thedi of the detention, under the circumstaredsting thenFood
Fair Stores 335 So. 2d at 562.

All material facts concerning the issue of probable cause in this case are wtispoiit
35 seconds elapsed between when Harris asked Archer for hig sewhiyhenOfficer Webster
arrived and placed a hand on the shopping cart. The facts concerning those 35 ascetelant
to the Courts probable cause analys@ége as follows As Archer began his exit, Harris asked
Archer to show his receipt for the purchase of the televisiorat §F3h Archer Depo. at 77:19
78:15, 160:21162:11 . Archer refused to show Hatrris his recefpfat | 3j Archer Depo. at 77:24
77:25 As Archer pushed the shopping cart toward the exit, Harris followed, stepping tohthe rig
of Archer, then stepping in front of the shopping cart and placing his hands on the shopping cart.
Video at 00:1100:22; Archer Depo. at 77:18:14.Archer continued to attempt to leave the store
with the shopping cart and television, attempting to maneuver around Harris. Video at 00:22
00:28.

The Court concludes from the undisputed facts that Harris had probablé®tawdsgtain
Archerpursuant to § 812.015(3)(a#3rcher's conduct-refusingwithout reasorio show a receipt
when asked by a store employee, continuing toward thewattit merchandisedespitethe
employee’s dditional requests, and attemptingtaneuver merchandisgoundtheemployee in
an effort to leave with it-would lead a reasonable pergorconclude a theft may be in progress
Ciccariello, 2008 WL 4426710, att*(store employee hgutobable cause to believe customer had
committed retail thefat the moment when the customer refused to answer the employee’s initial

guestions and walked awayAnderson 2013 WL 773473, at *7 (hostility upon being asked to

% 1n his response, Archer points to Caraway’s and Wood’s testimony that they did not Aetiesrevas attempting
to steal the television. But Caraway’s and Wood's testimony about their adie#d bpon arriving at the scene 45
seconds after the incident began and one minute and 45 seconds after the incidentspegtnehg have no bearing
onwhat Harris, who encountered Archer first, could reasonably have believed undentbristing circumstances.
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display receipt gave arguable probable cause to conclude a crime may have been committed and
to investigate further).

There is no question that any detentaiArcher by Harris was reasonable under the
circumstancesTo the extat Harris actually detained Archer, he did so for only 35 seconds, or
until Officer Webstearrived.Video at 00:0600:35. Themanner of thalleged detention was also
reasonable-Archer was never touched nor taken elsewhere. In addition, as is obvious from
Officer Webste'rs quick arrival on scene, law enforcement was summoned immediately. Because
the undisputed facts shddarris had probable cause to detain Archer and followed the mandates
of § 812.015(3)(a)gpnydetention of Archer by Harris was not unlawful. Under Florida law, Harris
is immune from liability for false imprisonment.

Archer argueggenerallyin his response thtte WatMart employees had a duty to further
investigate Archeés claim that he had just purchased the television at the cheale@utocated
nearby. Doc. 276 at pp. 2, 7. But there is no record evidence that Archer told Harris hst had |
paid for thetelevisionby checking out nearby. The only evidence concerning Harris and Agcher
communication is that Harris asked for Archer to display his receipt, Arehesed, and Harris
may have told Archer that he could not leave without showing a reéegbter Depo. at 77:19
78:15, 160:21162:11 Finally, even if Archer had told Harris that he had just paid for the television
nearby, 1 would be unreasonable for Archeradssertthat Harris should have investigated that
claim and reached a resolution withine35 secondbefore Officer Webster arriveduring which

time Archer continued hiattempt to leave witthe merchandise.
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3. All Defendantsare Entitled to Summary Judgment on Archer’s False Imprisonment
Claim

The moving party has met its burden to show a lack of evidence to support an essential
element of Archés claim for false imprisonment, detention, against Wood and Carawaly
Archer has failedo designatevidence showing a genuine issue of material fact. Therefore, Wood
and Caraway are entitled to summary judgment on Arstodgiim for false imprisonment.

Viewing the evidenceén a light most favorale to Archer and giving Archer the great
benefit of the doubt, there is a possible dispute of material fact as to whethier ddtually
detained Archer. Nonetheless, the undisputed facts show Harris had probableo cadetsent
Archer. Therefore, any tlention of Archer by Harris was lawfulAccordingly, Harris isalso
entitled to summary judgment on Archeclaim for false imprisonment.

Archer's claim against Wallart for false imprisonment apparently relies on a respondeat
superior theorySeedoc. 237 at § 74Because the Court finds Wood, Caraway, and Harris are
entitled to summary judgment in their favor Archers claim forfalse imprisonmentArcher's
claimfor false imprisonmerdgainst WaMart is nd viable. WatMatrt is thereforalsoentitledto
summary judgment on Archerfalse imprisonment clair.

B. Count lll — Conversion as to Wal-Mart, Wood, Caraway

Under Florida law, conversion is dmnauthorized act which deprives another of his
property permanently or for an indefinite tih&ogade v. ENB Revocable Trug63 F.3d 1274,

1291 (11th Cir.2001).To prove conversion, a plaintiff musshow ownership of the subject

17 Because the Court finds Defendants are entitled to summary judgment on #\fale’imprisonment claim on
Defendants’ firstwo argumentsit need not reach thhird issue Defendants raise regarding whether Archer consented
to detention.
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property and facts that the other party wrongfully asserted dominion over that pfopdvigards
v. Landsman51 So. 3d 1208, 1213 (Fla. 4th DCA 2011).

1. Wood

The parties agree th8ergeant Gaskitook the television out of Arch& shopping cart.
SFat { 3n; Video at 03:203:39; Archer Depo. at 187:4188:7.The undisputed evidence also
shows that after the Officers and Archer left, Caraway took the televisionagad &tin the asset
protection office. Skt { 3s; Video at 7:38:00.There is no record evidence, howevkat Wood
had anything to do with the taking of the televisidBnd Archer has failed to designate specific
facts showing a genuine issue of material faberefore, Wood is entitled to summary judgment
on the conversion count as to her.

2. Caraway

Archer argues Carawdyvrongfully assert[ed] dominion ovethe television by placing it
in the asset protection office after Archer and the Officers left. DocaRp617.To the extent
Caraway could be said to have been involved in the deprivation of Agctebevision, such
deprivation was temporary. The undisputed evidence shows Caraway had neoikisgp the
television permanently or for an indefinite period of time. Caraway specified thaercould
take the television upon Wlart's receipt of proof of purchase. Caraway Depo. at8332:20,
36:1336:16, 37:1637:18, 62:1462:17; Doc. 278. Indeed, after Wallart confirmed the
purchase, Archer was informed that he could return to the store to pick up the televishan. Ar
Depo. at 105:1-8.06:4;Phillips Depo. at 31:31:7.Archer does not dispute that he could have left
the store with the television on November 26, 2015 by showing proof of purchase, and does not
dispute that he was later informed that he could either pick up the television or eeceiuad

Archer Depoat93:12-93:14, 105:18-111:Fhat Archer does not approve of the manner in which
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Wal-Mart attempted to effectuate a return or refund does not support a claim for com\&esi
id. at 106:24107:6 (| expected that | should be issued a letter of apdimgy Walmart. Someone
should come knocking on my door delivering that TV. | have no obligation to go down there and
kiss their butt and ask them for my own TV that | duly paid for. No. I felt the obligation was on
their part, and they shirked their obligation. Blew me off like | was a leaf in the wind.”

Despite Archer’s attempts to obfuscate sienmary judgmentecord, doc. 276 at p. 16,
the material facts surrounding Archer’s claim for conversion are undisfggedusehere is an
absence of evidence support arssentiaklement of Archer’s claim for conversicand because
Archer has failed to designate specific facts to show a genuine issue of matei@faway and
Wal-Mart!8 areentitled to summary judgment as to this claim

C. Count VII —Nedigence of Walmart and Camp —-Negligent Training

A successful claim fonegligent training under Florida lawquiresa plaintiffto establish
he“was harmed as a result of an employéailure to adequately train an employee, and that the
nature of the mployment put the plaintiff in azone of risk such that the employer had a duty
running to the plaintiff. Adler v. WestJet Airlines, Ltd31 F. Supp. 3d.381, 1388S.D. Fla.
2014).See also Lewis v. City of St. Petershit§0 F.3d 1260, 1265 (11th Cir. 2001)iider
Florida law, an employer is liable in tort for reasonably foreseeable damagkmgeisom the
negligent training of its employees and agets.”

Archer’s claim for negligent training is based on two related but separate dhieh
Archer alleges WaMart andEdwardCamp (“Camp”owed. First, Archer alleges Camp and Wal

Mart owed him a duty to properly train employees in the implementation of the store policy.

18 Archer’s claim against Wallart for conversion again apparently relies on a respondeat superior tBeedyc.
237 at 1Y 104.05.
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Second, Archer alleges Camp and WHirt owed him a duty to propertyain employees in the
identification of customers suspected of shoplifting.

1. Camp

There is almost no record evidence about Camp, a store manager whom Archer alleges had
a duty to train employees imd WalMart policy and had a duty to train employees he t
identification of shoplifting patronsSeeArcher Depo. at 156:@57:4, 171:9172:14; Gaskin
Depo. at 36:1B6:21, 85:235:25; Nichols Depo. at 30:281:2, 80:180:5, 80:1730:18, 81:10
81:12.The onlyevidenceabout Camp is that hepparentlynanagedhe WatMart store on the
day of the incident. Caraway Depo. at 383391° There is no evidence that Camp had a
responsibilityto train WatMart employeesn the policyor in shoplifting identificationnor that
Camp was derelict in such deg Because no evidence supports Archearlaim for negligent
training as to Cam@nd because Archer has failed to designate specific facts showing a genuine
dispute of material fact as to this issGamp is entitled to summary judgment.

2. WakMart

a. Duty to rainregarding re policy

Archers claim that WaMart had a duty to properly train its employees in the
implementation of store policy relies upon the WHrt policy provisionstaing that a store
employee shoultallow [a customer who refuses to shaweceipt] to leave, and [then] document
the everit on a standard form and notify management or asset protection. Det. 2Z6ording
to Archer, the policywas designed to be implemented so that any customer that refused to show
his or her receipt should nevertheless be free to leave the store with his ert¢temdise and not

detained and not have their property taken from th&woc. 237 at § 156. Archer alleges Wal

19 Even this, however, is unclear. Wood testified that shenmsiasure if Camp still managed the store on that day.
Wood Depo. at 11:212:19.
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Mart failed to propdy train its employees in the proper implementation of this policy, evidenced
by the fact that Wood, Caraway, and Harris failed to permit Archer to leave thenv#ttoreis
merchandise after he refused to show his redeipat  157; Doc. 276 at pp. 18-19.

As an initial matter, it is unclear why Archer believes golicy creates kegalduty from
Wal-Mart to customers The evidence shows the policy was not created for the purpose of
protecting customers, as Archer alleges, but was put in place for the proteiciiVatMart' s
employees. Gammon Depo. at #2223, 22:22-23:5n addition, there is evidence that the policy
was intended for implementation by only certain Wkt employees, such as greeters or receipt
checkers, not all Wallart employees. Wood Depo. at 18:%:6; Caraway Depo. a7:14-17:17,
20:3-204, 27:327:6, 28:2229:5. Archers response failso identify specific facts showing a
genuine issue of materiadt as taluty.

Even assuming the policy did create a legal duty from-M&at to Archer, theevidence
showsthe policy was either amended or not in place on the evening of the incetentse the
store was having a special event that was anticipated to draw a large $Foat {1 38b; Wood
Depo. at 15:18-15:2%8:3-58:9; Caraway Depo. at 23:15-23:19; Gammon Depo. at 15:17-15:24.
On this point, Archer also fails to designate specific facts to create a gesu@efsnaterial fact.

Finally, assuming the policgreateda legal dutyfrom WaklMart to Archerandassuming
the policy was in force on November 26, 2015, no record evidence suppdners assertion
that the policy was violate®f.Of the individuals named in Archiercomplaint, only Harris, as a
receipt checkr, may have been subject to implementing the policy. Wood Depo. al35;1
Caraway Depo. at 17:147:17, 20:320:4, 27:327:6, 28:2229:5. The undisputed evidence shows

that before the Officers arrived, Harris communicated with Archer for about 8&dsein an effort

20 Indeed, one witness who reviewed the incident testified he thought the policy was dol®ammon Depo. at
18:21:19:3.
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to obtain proof of purchase. Video at 00@@35; SF at  h. The policy does not specify for how
long an employee should attempt to obtain a receipt or at what point the employee should allow
the customer to leav&eedoc. 2761. And within seconds, Officer Webster and other YMatt
employees had arrived, mooting Hariasd the policis presumednvolvement. Caraway Depo.
at 27:327:17;Phillips Depo. at 23:1:24:16 Gammon Depo. at 31:1%1:19 32:1832:21. Again,
Archer fails to desigate specific facts to create a genuine issue of material fact as to violation of
the policy.

b. Duty to rainregarding dentification ofsuspectedhoplifters

Archer also alleges Walart owed him a duty to properly train its employees in the
identification of customers suspected of shopliftamgd that WaMart breached that duty by
failing to train its employeesis evidenced by Archerisiproper detention

As discussedupra to the extent Harris detained Archer, he had probable tawkeso
when Archer refused without reason to show a receipt, continued toward the exit whamdiéese
despite additional requests, and attempted to maneuver merchandise around Harffsintan e
leave with it.Given that he had probable causere is no evidence Hariimproperly identified
Archer as a possible shoplifter.

Defendants have met their burden to show a lack of evidence concerningaal
failure to train its employees in either the proper implementation of the policy or in the
identification of potential shoplifters, and Archer has failed to designate spkeafs creating a
genuine issue of material fact @my pertinent issuéWakMart, therefore,is also entitled to

summary judgment on this count.
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V. CONCLUSION
Defendants, as the moving parties, have met their burden to identify portions afotfte re
demonstrating an absence of genuine setimaterial factand/or have met their burden to show
an absence of evidence to support Arthetaims. Archer, howeverhas failed to designate
specific material facts bearing on any dispositivessue. Defendants are entitled to summary
judgment on all of Arches remaining claims.
Accordingly, it iSORDERED:
1. DefendantsMotion for Summary Judgment (Doc. 259)GRANTED.
2. The Clerk is directed to enter a judgment in favor of Defend#dsMart Stores East,
LP, Kristina Wood, Charles Caraway, Edward Camp, and Kanara Hadiagainst
Plaintiff, Darrell ArcherThe Clerk is further directed to terminate any pending mstion
and deadlines artd close this case.
DONE AND ORDERED in Tampa, Florida odanuaryl5, 2020.
G (RO VI Y O RO ;

Charlenes Edwards Honeywell
United States District Judge

Copies to:
Counsel of Record and Unrepresented Patrties, if any
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